# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

SARASOTA CLASSIFIED/TEACHERS ASSOCIATION,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 81,423

SARASOTA COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT AND THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RELATIONS COMMISSION,

Respondents.

## PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Alan C. Sundberg
Sylvia H. Walbolt
CARLTON, FIELDS, WARD, EMMANUEL,
SMITH & CUTLER, P.A.
Post Office Drawer 190
Tallahassee, Florida 32302
(904)224-1585

and

Thomas W. Young, III
General Counsel
Florida Education
Association/United
118 Monroe Street
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1700
(904)224-7818

Attorneys for Petitioner Sarasota Classified/Teachers Association

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Sarasota Classified/Teachers Association

("SC/TA"), was the plaintiff/appellee below. The Public

Employees Relation Commission ("PERC") was an appellee below.

Respondent Sarasota County School District ("the School Board")

was the defendant/appellant below.

A copy of the Second District's decision, which is reported as <a href="Sarasota County School District v. Sarasota">Sarasota County School District v. Sarasota</a>

Classified/Teachers Association, 614 So.2d 1141 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), is included in the Appendix ("App.") at Tab 1 and will be designated "Sarasota County at \_\_\_\_\_." The order of PERC ("PERC order \_\_\_") which was the subject of the School Board's appeal to the Second District is included in the Appendix at Tab 2, and the hearing officer's recommended order to PERC ("R.O. \_\_\_\_") is at Tab 3 of the Appendix.

All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise noted.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS1/

The School Board is both a public employer under section 447.203(2), Florida Statutes (1989), and a legislative body as defined by Section 447.203(10). Sarasota County at 1144. SC/TA is, and has been for many years, the certified bargaining agent for the School Board's classified and instructional employees' bargaining units. Id.

In 1988, the School Board and SC/TA negotiated two collective bargaining agreements for those School Board employees. Id. The agreements, which ran from July 1, 1988, through June 30, 1991, contained, as had past agreements for the last 12 years, provisions for annual step pay increases. Id. A "step pay" increase is based on a negotiated salary schedule.

R.O. ¶ 1, p. 4; App. 3. Ascending pay rates are established for each bargaining unit and a step is accomplished by earning one or more years of experience or training. Id. Although the 1988-1991 agreements had expired and new ones had not been negotiated, those employees eligible for step increases on July 1, 1991 received the increases. Sarasota County at 1144.

In July 1991, the superintendent of the School Board, acting on behalf of the Board as the employer, submitted a proposed budget to the School Board acting as a legislative body; that budget included sufficient funds to allow the payment of the step increases for the 1991-1992 school year. <u>Id</u>. Faced with a

¹/ The facts set forth in this statement are taken virtually verbatim from the district court's decision, the recommended order of the hearing officer, and the order of PERC.

fifteen million dollar deficit for the school year, the School Board rejected the superintendent's proposed budget and instead approved a budget which appropriated less than was required to fund the step increases which had become part of the status quo as a result of established past practices. <u>Id</u>. at 1145.

While the parties were in negotiations over wages and other terms and conditions of employment, the School Board unilaterally discontinued the step increases, based upon the tentative budget.

Id. The tentative budget was subsequently adopted by the School Board. Id. The superintendent offered to bargain the impact of that budget upon his administration of the agreements, but he did not agree to bargain the amount of money the School Board had appropriated. Id.

The SC/TA filed an unfair labor practice charge with PERC, complaining that the School Board had violated Florida Statutes Section 447.501(1)(a) and (c) by unilaterally discontinuing the payment of step increases during the collective bargaining negotiations. Id. As an affirmative defense, the School Board asserted that Florida Statutes Section 447.309(2) authorized its failure to appropriate monies sufficient to fund the agreements and provided that this would not constitute an unfair labor practice. Id. That statute provides as follows:

Upon execution of the collective bargaining agreement, the chief executive shall, in his annual budget request or by other appropriate means, request the legislative body to appropriate such amounts as shall be sufficient to fund the provisions of the collective bargaining agreement. If less than the requested amount is appropriated,

the collective bargaining agreement shall be administered by the chief executive officer on the basis of the amounts appropriated by the legislative body. The failure of the legislative body to appropriate funds sufficient to fund the collective bargaining agreement shall not constitute, or be evidence or, any unfair labor practice.

FLA. STAT. § 447.309(2). The School Board also asserted that there had been a waiver of the step increases for this time period.

At the conclusion of the hearing on the SC/TA's charge, the hearing officer entered a detailed recommended order. Sarasota County at 1145. [See App. 3 for recommended order]. The hearing officer specifically found that each year, for at least the preceding twelve years, employees who attained a higher step during the year had their salaries increased effective July 1.2/R.O. ¶ 2, p. 4; App. 3.

The hearing officer further found that the step increases have been a part of every collective bargaining agreement ratified by these parties. R.O. ¶ 3, p. 4; App. 3. Each of these contracts expired and, in every instance, a new contract was not ratified until after the summer: the July 1, 1982-1985 contract was ratified on September 1, 1982; the July 1, 1985-1988 contract was ratified on October 15, 1985; the July 1, 1988-1991 contract was ratified on January 24, 1989. [R.O. ¶ 3, p.4; App.

3. Nevertheless, the School Board always paid the step increases

<u>S8#5533.1</u>

This only affected eleven and twelve-month contract employees; employees who worked on contracts of less than eleven months received their increases when they returned to work at the start of school after the summer hiatus. R.O. ¶ 2, p.4; App. 3.

effective on July 1, notwithstanding the lack of a ratified successor contract. R.O. ¶ 3, p.4; App. 3.

In light of these facts (which were undisputed), the hearing officer found that:

Accordingly, employees in these two units grew to expect that the District would honor the step increases outlined in the last contract even after the collective bargaining contracts expired. This was a reasonable expectation given the District's longstanding practice of continuing to pay the step increments.

R.O. ¶ 4, p.5; App. 3. The hearing officer went on to find that the School Board had not established the defense of waiver or shown that its failure to fund the budget fully was authorized under section 447.309(2). Sarasota County at 1145, 1146. However, hearing officer held that the anticipated revenue shortfall constituted "exigent circumstances" which required immediate action and that the School Board accordingly did not commit an unfair labor practice. R.O. ¶ 4, p.5; App. 3.

Upon considering the hearing officer's recommended order,

the Commission ruled that the School Board did not plead or prove "exigent circumstances," as he had held, but it adopted the hearing officer's factual findings. PERC order, p.2, 4-6; App.

2. Based on those findings, PERC agreed that the School Board had unilaterally changed an established past practice during negotiations by withholding the step increases to bargaining unit members. Unlike the hearing officer, however, the Commission determined that this constituted an unfair labor practice under section 447.501(a) and (c). PERC order, p. 6-9;

App. 2. The Commission further found at pages 2-6 and 8-9 of its order that there had been (i) no waiver, (ii) no lawful legislative imposition by the School Board after a lawful impasse in the negotiation process, and (iii) as noted, it ruled that the School Board had neither pled nor proven exigent circumstances, which are the three conditions under which public employers are authorized to take such unilateral action. See FLA. STAT. §447.403 and Florida School for the Deaf and Blind v. Florida School for the Deaf and Blind v. Florida School for the Deaf and the Blind Teachers United, 483 So.2d 58 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). Finally, PERC specifically rejected the School Board's contention that section 447.309(2) granted it absolute authority to take this unilateral action. Sarasota County at 1146; PERC order, p.6-8; App. 2.

The Second District reversed. Sarasota County; App. 1.

Although acknowledging that Florida law prohibits "unilateral changes in working conditions" during negotiations it concluded that "the school board in its capacity as the legislative body has the absolute right and obligation under the constitution to fund or not fund any agreement entered into between the employees and the school board as their employer." Id. at 1148. Citing

<u>ss#5533.1</u> 5

The Second District expressly recognized that annual step increases had become the established status quo and could not be unilaterally changed by the employer during negotiations. Sarasota County at 1147-1148. By its opinion, the court did not differentiate between underfunding an existing agreement and discontinuing the funding of wages which had become a part of the status quo as a result of long-standing practice. Instead, the court concluded that section 447.309(2) grants the School Board the "absolute" right to refuse to fund any "requirement that arises out of collective bargaining." Sarasota County at 1148.

this Court's decision in <u>State of Florida v. Florida Police</u>

<u>Benevolent Ass'n</u>, 613 So.2d 415 (Fla. 1992) ("<u>FPBA</u>"), the Second

District held that the separation of powers principles set forth

there required reversal of PERC's decision here because "the

executive branch of government [could not] bargain away a

legislative body's constitutional right and obligation to

appropriate funds." <u>Sarasota County</u> at 1149.

By order dated July 14, 1993, this Court accepted jurisdiction.

6

SS#5533.1

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Second District's decision allows school boards to do in their legislative capacity that which the court conceded school boards could not do in their capacity as a public employer: unilaterally refuse to pay salary benefits to which its employees are legally entitled, without demonstrating that a "compelling reason," as defined by this Court, (or other circumstances specified by Florida law) requires this action. That decision is contrary to this Court's controlling precedents upholding the constitutional right of public employees to "effective collective bargaining" with their public employee, and it should be reversed.

Significantly, Florida law provided a way for the School Board to address truly "exigent circumstances," but the School Board did not follow those procedures. Instead, it unilaterally altered the established status quo during the collective bargaining process, and that it cannot constitutionally do.

By allowing the School Board to evade its obligation to pay the established step increases by merely putting on its legislative hat and refusing to fund those benefits, the Second District has effectively destroyed the employees' constitutional right to bargain. Employees cannot bargain with an employer which has an "absolute" right to refuse to perform the very obligation it has incurred in the first instance, merely by changing hats. By this decision, the Second District has made

7

illusory the constitutional right of public employees to collectively bargain with public employers who act in both an executive and a legislative capacity, as all school boards and local governments in this state do.

In holding that the School Board could unilaterally alter the status quo during negotiations, the Second District expressly stated that this Court's decision in FPBA was controlling and compelled that holding. However, as this Court subsequently made clear in Chiles v. United Faculty of Florida, 615 So.2d 671 (Fla. 1993), FPBA applies only where Florida's separation of powers doctrine is violated. In United Faculty, the separation of powers doctrine was not implicated -- and the FPBA did not control -- because the Legislature had already appropriated state funds and hence there was no interference by the executive branch with the Legislature's constitutional duty. By the same token, the separation of powers doctrine is not implicated here because the local governmental body which negotiated the agreement was the same body which refused to fund it, and hence there was no interference by one branch of the government with the constitutional duties of another branch of government.

Simply put, the Second District misapplied the separation of powers principles set forth in <u>FPBA</u>. <u>FPBA</u> does <u>not</u> apply where, as here, there is no action by state executive and legislative bodies with <u>separate</u> and <u>independent</u> identities. Instead, this Court's decision in <u>United Faculty</u> controls, and it plainly

8

<u>\$\$#5533.1</u>

precludes the School Board's unilateral violation of the established status quo during collective bargaining negotiations.

<u>ss#5533.1</u> 9

#### **ARGUMENT**

"The right of employees, by and through a labor organization, to bargain collectively shall not be denied or abridged."

Article I, Section 6, Florida Constitution

The School Board's Unilateral Change in the Status Quo was an Unconstitutional Abridgement of the Employees' Right to Collective Bargaining.

As we show in sub-section A below, there can be no doubt that the School Board's unilateral termination of step increases for its employees altered the established status quo. By doing so, the School Board wrongfully deprived these public employees of their constitutional right to bargain with the School Board. The Second District frankly conceded that it would have found an unfair labor practice but for its conclusion that this Court's decision in <u>FPBA</u> compelled a contrary conclusion. As shown in sub-section B, however, <u>FPBA</u> does <u>not</u> compel a contrary conclusion, but rather is expressly based on the separation of powers doctrine, which has no application to local government bodies such as the School Board.

Because no "compelling reason" was established for the School Board's unilateral change in the status quo during collective bargaining negotiations, this Court's controlling precedents make it clear that the School Board unconstitutionally abridged its employees' right to meaningful collective bargaining. The Second District's decision contravenes those decisions and should accordingly be reversed.

The Commission Correctly Held that the School Board Unlawfully Abridged the Constitutional Right of its Employees to Effective Collective Bargaining and to Maintenance of the Status Quo During that Process

In its order below, the Commission determined that the School Board made a unilateral change in the terms and conditions of employment which constituted the status quo, without satisfying the conditions imposed under Florida law for doing so. That finding was supported by the record evidence and by Florida law.

Florida law is settled that a public employer such as the School Board is prohibited from unilaterally altering terms and conditions of employment during collective bargaining negotiations, absent waiver, exigent circumstances requiring immediate action, or legislative body action taken pursuant to section 447.403. FLA. STAT. § 477.501(1)(a) and (c); Florida School for the Deaf and Blind v. Florida School for the Deaf and Blind Teachers United, 483 So.2d 58 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986); City of Tallahassee v. Leon County PBA, 445 So.2d 604 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); City of Ocala v. Marion County PBA, 392 So.2d 26, 28-30 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980). Such a unilateral change is tantamount to a

In this prohibition derives in the first instance from Florida Statute section 447.309 (1), which provides that a certified bargaining agent and chief executive officer of the public employees "shall bargain collectively in the determination of wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment" for employees in the bargaining unit. In addition, Florida Statute section 447.501(1)(c) prohibits a public employer from "refusing to bargain collectively [or] failing to bargain collectively in good faith. . . ."

refusal to bargain and constitutes a <u>per se</u> violation of the Public Employees Relations Act. <u>Pasco County School Board v.</u>

<u>Pasco County CTA</u>, 3 FPER 9, 13 (1976), <u>aff'd</u>, 353 So.2d 108, 110
123 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977); <u>City of Ocala</u>, 392 So.2d at 26.

It is clear, of course, that an employer may take unilateral action to change terms of employment pursuant to section 447.403, Florida Statutes, after (i) completion of negotiations which fail to result in an agreement and (ii) exhaustion of the statutory impasse procedures. However, this statutory mechanism only applies after completion of this process, and it does not authorize unilateral action pending negotiations. See Palowitch v. Orange County School Board, 3 FPER 280 (1977), aff'd, 367 So.2d 730 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979) (the bargaining table is the legislatively mandated forum to determine wages, hours, and terms and conditions of employment).

By statute, the subject of wages is a mandatory subject of negotiations. FLA. STAT. § 447.309(1); Nassau Teachers

Association, FTP-NEA v. School Board of Nassau County, 8 FPER ¶

13206 (1982). It is undisputed that the School Board and the SC/TA were actively engaged in reopener negotiations on wages pursuant to section 447.309(1); no impasse had been declared, and the parties were not in the context of legislative resolution pursuant to section 447.403. Nevertheless, the School Board unilaterally terminated its longstanding past practice of providing employees with annual step increases in wages.

12

Accepting the findings of the hearing officer, the
Commission specifically found that a step increase had been paid
by the School Board each year since 1982 and that this manifested
the status quo which could not be unilaterally altered by the
School Board during collective bargaining negotiations. R.O.,
p.4-5, ¶¶ 2, 3, & 4; R.O., p.12-14; App. 3; PERC order, p.2; App.
2. Although the amount of the step increases had changed from
year to year, the School Board did not merely change the amount
on this occasion; rather, it totally eliminated step increases,
and it is that unilateral change that the Commission found
impermissibly altered the status quo. See City of Ocala, 392
So.2d at 30, 31. Consistent with Nassau Teachers Association,
FTP-NEA, the Commission held that the last contractually
prescribed amount established the status quo to be expected by
the employees.

The Second District agreed with the Commission's determination that the School Board had unilaterally altered the status quo by discontinuing the step increases during negotiations. Sarasota County at 1147. The court further declared that "[i]f we were not considering the school board as a legislative body underfunding these increases, we would find an unfair labor practice." Id. However, the Second District concluded that this Court's decision in FPBA was controlling in

<u>\$\$#5533.1</u> 13

Enforcement of the status quo is not one-sided. For example, the Commission has also allowed an employer to implement drug testing authorized by an expired contract because it was part of the status quo. <u>IAFF, Local 226 v. City of St.</u> Petersburg Beach, 13 FPER ¶ 18116 at 277 (1987).

this case and required a contrary determination. As we show in sub-section B, <u>FPBA</u> is <u>not</u> controlling here and the district court erroneously deprived these public employees of their constitutional right to bargain with the School Board.

The Declaration of Rights of Florida's Constitution expressly provides that "[t]he right of employees, by and through a labor organization, to bargain collectively shall not be denied or abridged." FLA. CONST. art. 1, § 6. Moreover, as this Court has long recognized, the employees of a public employer have the constitutional right to "effective collective bargaining."

Hillsborough Cty. GEA v. Aviation Authority, 522 So.2d 358, 363 (Fla. 1988). As an integral part of that constitutional right, the public employer must maintain the established status quo during the collective bargaining process. School Board of Orange County v. Palowitch, 367 So.2d 730, 731 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979).

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