IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID 30

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

SARASOTA CLASSIFIED/TEACHERS ASSOCIATION and THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RELATIONS COMMISSION,

Petitioners,

vs.

CASE NO. 81,423

SARASOTA COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, THE SCHOOL BOARD OF SARASOTA COUNTY, FLORIDA

A. Lamar Matthews, Jr. FB# 051390 Jeanne S. Medawar FB# 0655856 Arthur S. Hardy FB# 0721492 MATTHEWS, HUTTON & EASTMOORE 1777 Main Street, Suite 500 Post Office Box 49377 Sarasota, Florida 34230 (813) 366-8888 Attorneys for Respondent I.

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT.

For the past two years the parties to this action have litigated whether Section 447.309(2), Fla. Stat., applies to "underfunding" actions taken during the hiatus period between collective bargaining agreements. The Second District Court of Appeal correctly ruled that the statute does apply during the hiatus period and, accordingly, found that the School Board committed no unfair labor practice in this case. <u>Sarasota County</u> <u>School District v. Sarasota Classified/Teachers Ass'n</u>, 614 So. 2d 1143 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993).

At this late stage of the litigation, the SC/TA has now changed the issues dramatically. Remarkably absent from its thirty-one page initial brief is any discussion of the hiatus issue on which this case was decided both by PERC and the Second District. In its place are arguments concerning separation of powers, whether Section 447.309(2) was intended to apply to local governments, and whether the statute is constitutional. Each of these arguments has been waived by the SC/TA because none was presented below. This court should not consider these arguments initially at this late date.

Moreover, none of the issues belatedly raised by the SC/TA changes the result reached by the Second District. It is clear that the Florida Legislature intended for Section 447.309(2) to apply to local governments including school boards; indeed, school boards are specifically included in the definition of "legislative body" enacted by the Legislature in Section

447.203(10), Fla. Stat. Numerous PERC and court decisions have reached the same conclusion and applied Section 447.309(2) to local governments.

The SC/TA's attempt to inject the concept of separation of powers into the discussion does not alter this analysis. The constitutional requirement of separation of powers applies to state government and mandates that the various branches of state government have distinct roles. Separation of powers, however, does not limit the authority of the Florida Legislature to grant legislative authority, like underfunding pursuant to Section 447.309(2), to local governments and does not prohibit local governments from exercising any of the powers granted to them by the Legislature. Separation of powers, therefore, is irrelevant to this case.

Finally, Section 447.309(2) is constitutional. Pursuant to Article I, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution, public employees have the right to collectively bargain. As this court has recently held in <u>State v. Florida Police Benevolent Ass'n</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 613 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 1992), the possibility of legislative underfunding of a collective bargaining agreement is not an abridgement of public employees right to bargain but, rather, is an inherent limitation on that right. Section 447.309(2), therefore, does not abridge the right to bargain enjoyed by public employees and is constitutional.

V. ARGUMENT: THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

A. Jurisdiction was improvidently granted and should be discharged.

Although it is difficult to tell from the SC/TA's initial brief, this case is about Section 447.309(2), Florida Statutes. In a blizzard of well written prose, the SC/TA seeks to obscure the issue which has been litigated by the parties for over two years--whether Section 447.309(2) applies during the hiatus period between collective bargaining agreements. Perhaps recognizing the futility of continuing to advance this rejected argument, the SC/TA has radically changed course and now principally seeks to rely on an unrelated separation of powers issue which has never been raised before any of the lower tribunals and which has no application to this case. The court should not permit this eleventh hour issue to be considered here.

The issue below was whether Section 447.309(2) applies during the hiatus period after the expiration of a collective bargaining agreement. In its administrative ruling, the Public Employees Relations Commission ("PERC") held that it did not: "We conclude that Section 447.309(2) is inapplicable to an employer's actions during this hiatus, and therefore, cannot shield the school district from liability for unilaterally terminating the step increases." PERC Order at 8. The School Board challenged PERC's interpretation of Section 447.309(2) in the Second District Court of Appeal and, in its brief to that court, the SC/TA summed up the salient question as follows:

The issue on appeal is whether the Public Employees Relations Commission correctly interpreted Section 447.309(2) to require that a collective bargaining agreement be in effect before that section of the statute is operable to excuse the School Board's otherwise unlawful conduct.

SC/TA Answer Brief at 16. PERC, joining the SC/TA as an appellee before the Second District, agreed:

> The singular issue before the Commission was whether the failure to fund language contained in the last sentence [of Section 447.309(2)] would apply to step increases during the hiatus between contracts. . . Because a collective bargaining agreement was not in effect when the unilateral termination of step increases occurred, the Commission concluded that Section 447.309(2) would not shield the School District from liability for that action.

PERC Answer Brief at 14.

The issue thus squarely presented, the Second District reversed PERC, holding that Section 447.309(2) applies not only during the expressed duration of a collective bargaining agreement but also during the hiatus period between agreements and "whenever a legislative body, such as the school board in this case, is requested to appropriate public funds to satisfy an obligation which arises out of the collective bargaining." <u>Sarasota County School District v. Sarasota Classified/Teachers</u> <u>Ass'n</u>, 614 So. 2d 1143, 1146 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993). It is that decision which has been appealed to this court.

The opinions and briefs below show clearly that both the separation of powers argument and the unconstitutionality argument briefly mentioned on the last page of the SC/TA's brief

are raised by the SC/TA for the first time in this forum. By failing to raise the issues below, the SC/TA has waived these arguments. The SC/TA should not be permitted to inject these new, very different issues into this controversy at this late date. <u>See, e.g., Sanford v. Rubin</u>, 237 So. 2d 134, 137 (Fla. 1970) ("Constitutional issues, other than those constituting fundamental error, are waived, unless they are timely raised.") Because the issues decided by PERC and the Second District have not been raised before this court, jurisdiction was improvidently granted and should be discharged.

B. Section 447.309(2) applies to the underfunding action taken by the School Board during the hiatus period between collective bargaining agreements.

In Section "A" of its argument, the SC/TA meticulously proves that which is not in dispute--that unilateral changes in the status quo during bargaining can be made only "in the manner allowed by Florida law . . . " SC/TA Initial Brief at 15. The SC/TA goes on to detail the three circumstances in which it believes unilateral action can be taken: waiver, exigent circumstances, and impasse resolution pursuant to Section 447.403, Florida Statutes. Having tediously constructed this strawman, the SC/TA then crushes it under the weight of precedent, finally announcing that because the School Board has failed to prove that any of these circumstances exist in this case, the Board's underfunding has violated the law.

Conveniently and disingeniously ignored in the SC/TA's analysis is any mention of the statute around which this entire

case has been litigated, Section 447.309(2). Section 447.309(2) is most obviously a part of the "Florida law" the SC/TA has only partially surveyed and it expressly details yet another manner in which unilateral action is permitted. Section 447.309(2) provides:

Upon execution of the collective bargaining agreement, the chief executive shall, in his annual budget request or by other appropriate means, request the legislative body to appropriate such amounts as shall be sufficient to fund the provisions of the collective bargaining agreement. If less than the requested amount is appropriated, the collective bargaining agreement shall be administered by the chief executive officer on the basis of the amounts appropriated by the legislative body. The failure of the legislative body to appropriate funds sufficient to fund the collective bargaining agreement shall not constitute, or be evidence of, any unfair labor practice.

(emphasis added).

It is Section 447.309(2), not waiver, exigent circumstances, or impasse resolution, which formed the basis of the decisions below. PERC, adopting the SC/TA's argument, held that although Section 447.309(2) allowed a public employer to unilaterally alter terms and conditions of employment during the duration of a collective bargaining agreement, it did not apply during the hiatus period between bargaining agreements. <u>Sarasota County</u>, 614 So. 2d at 1146. PERC's conclusion was apparently based on its belief that the parties did not have any collective bargaining agreement in effect during the hiatus period so that there was no agreement for the School Board to underfund. PERC Order at 7-8.

The Second District reversed stating, "We disagree with PERC's holding that Section 447.309(2) is not applicable in this case because the bargaining agreements had expired and the parties were negotiating new ones." <u>Sarasota County</u>, 614 So. 2d at 1146. Although this conclusion has not been directly challenged on appeal, because it was the sole issue before the court below, the School Board will nevertheless briefly demonstrate that the Second District's statutory construction was correct.

The operation of well-established law requires the School Board to maintain all its employees' terms and conditions of employment after expiration of their collective bargaining agreements just as they had prior to expiration. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Hendry</u> <u>County Education Ass'n v. School Board of Hendry County</u>, 9 FPER ¶14059 (1983). If the School Board did not meet the various obligations established in the collective bargaining agreements, it would have committed an unfair labor practice regardless of whether the parties are in the hiatus period or not.² PERC's conclusion that there is no collective bargaining agreement during the hiatus period ignored this reality and, in essence, permitted the SC/TA to receive all the benefits of the collective

² After the June 30, 1991 expiration of the collective bargaining agreements, the School Board did, in fact, continue all benefits including payment of appropriate step increases. After the underfunding occurred the Board continued to maintain all provisions of the "expired" bargaining agreements, including, <u>inter alia</u>, the maintenance of health benefits, the sick leave policy, and the collection of union dues, with the exception of payment of step increases. <u>Sarasota County</u>, 614 So. 2d at 1144-45.

bargaining agreements but none of the concomitant legal burdens during the hiatus period.

The Second District recognized that while public employees continue to reap the benefits of their "expired" collective bargaining agreements during the hiatus period, they, too, must accept the corollary legal burdens. One of these is the legislatively authorized underfunding mechanism established in Section 447.309(2). <u>United Faculty of Florida FEA/United v.</u> <u>Board of Regents</u>, 365 So. 2d 1073, 1078 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979) (collective bargaining agreements embody the contingency of underfunding "just as surely as if it had been expressly recited therein.").

The application of the statute is triggered "[u]pon execution of the collective bargaining agreement " The necessity for this language is plain. If no collective bargaining agreement had ever been executed, there would, of course, be no collective bargaining agreement for the legislative body either to fully fund or to underfund. It does not follow, however, that during the hiatus period--a time during which, by operation of law, public employees are entitled to receive all benefits of the collective bargaining agreements--the Legislature intended for a legislative body's control over the appropriation of public monies and authorization to underfund a collective bargaining agreement to automatically vanish. To the contrary, given that the Florida Legislature has permitted legislative bodies the authority outlined in Section 447.309(2), there is no

reason that a legislative body should have less flexibility during the hiatus period than it has during the time period when the collective bargaining agreement, by its duration clause, is in effect.

If public employees are entitled, as they clearly are, to have maintenance of the status quo during the hiatus period, it is incongruous for them to assert that the statute permitting underfunding of a collective bargaining agreement does not apply during this same time. The Legislature cannot have intended for public employees to have greater rights, or for a public employer to have fewer rights, during a hiatus period than either had when the collective bargaining was, by its terms, in effect between the parties. The Second District recognized the illogic of PERC's statutory construction and its determination should be affirmed.

C. The Second District's opinion below does not improperly rely on this court's opinion in <u>FPBA</u> and is consistent with all opinions of this court.

Once again completely ignoring the hiatus argument it travelled on below, in Section "B" of its brief the SC/TA contends that the Second District erred because it "patently misapplied" this court's decision in <u>State v. Florida Police</u> <u>Benevolent Ass'n, Inc.</u>, 613 So. 2d 415 (Fla.1992) ("<u>FPBA</u>") and erroneously relied exclusively on a separation of powers analysis in reversing the decision of PERC. SC/TA Initial Brief at 27. Both contentions are incorrect.

At page 17 of its initial brief the SC/TA unequivocally states, "the Second District held that it would have enforced Florida's requirement that a public employer maintain the established status quo during collective bargaining <u>but for</u> this court's decision in <u>FPBA</u>." SC/TA Initial Brief at 17 (emphasis in original).³ Unsurprisingly, no citation to the Second District's opinion is given; none exists to support this mistaken conclusion. Instead, five pages into its opinion and prior to ever citing this court's <u>FPBA</u> decision, the Second District succinctly summarized its holding:

> As discussed herein above we would hold it to be an unfair labor practice if the school board had unilaterally discontinued step increases at any time funded agreements were in effect. We would not, however, hold to be an unfair labor practice if the school board, before ratifying the agreements, or in adopting its annual budgets, had not fully funded the agreements. \$447.309(2); United Faculty v. Board of Regents, 365 So. 2d 1073 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979). See also Holmes County Teachers' Association v. The School Board of Holmes County, 9 FPER ¶14207 (1983).

Sarasota County, 614 So. 2d at 1148 (emphasis added).

In holding that the failure to fully fund a collective bargaining agreement when adopting an annual budget is not an unfair labor practice, the Second District expressly cited Section 447.309(2) as its statutory basis. While two cases are

³ The SC/TA repeats this mistaken reading of the Second District's opinion at least seven additional times in its brief. SC/TA Initial Brief at 8, 10, 13, 20, 21, 22, 29. Of course, merely because the SC/TA has chosen to adopt this erroneous interpretation of the Second District's opinion as its written mantra does not make it correct.

also cited as support, reliance on <u>FPBA</u> is conspicuously absent. Although, as described below, the Second District did discuss <u>FPBA</u> and, in a broad sense reached a similar result, it is clear that the Second District relied upon the statutory authority granted to school boards in Section 447.309(2), not <u>FPBA</u>, as the basis of its holding.

In the entire Second District opinion, the <u>FPBA</u> case was cited only twice, once to state the well-settled proposition under Florida law that while public employees have a constitutional right to bargain collectively, their rights are not coextensive with private employees' rights, and once to give background information on Section 447.309(2) and the separation of powers doctrine. <u>Sarasota County</u>, 614 So. 2d at 1148. Thus it is clear that the Second District did not simply rely upon <u>FPBA</u>, either explicitly or implicitly, to render its construction of Section 447.309(2).

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